

Management of Finance

Business Management

National 5 Higher

Table of Contents

THE IMPORTANCE OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT	1
SOURCES OF FINANCE	2
Internal Sources of Finance	2
EXTERNAL SOURCES OF FINANCE	3
BREAK-EVEN	6
FINANCIAL RECORDS	9
Cash Flow Management	9
Cash Budgets	10
Cash Budgets and their importance to the role of management	13
The Trading Account	14
The Balance Sheet	18
Interpretation of the Trading, Profit and Loss Account and Balance S	sheet 22
RATIO ANALYSIS	23
PROFITABILITY RATIOS	24
LIQUIDITY RATIOS	26
EFFICIENCY RATIOS	27
Uses of financial information in business	
Controlling costs and expenditure	
Forecasting trends and planning for the future	28
USERS OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION	29
LIMITATIONS OF FINANCIAL ANALYSIS	31
Role of technology in managing finance	32
GLOSSARY OF TERMS	

THE IMPORTANCE OF FINANCIAL MANAGEMENT

The efficient management of finance is vitally important to the success or failure of an organisation. The influence of the financial function is important because it has to:

- ensure that there are adequate funds available to acquire the resources needed to help the organisation achieve its objectives;
- ensure costs are controlled;
- ensure adequate cash flow;
- establish and control profitability levels.

The Finance Department exists to carry out such functions as:

- the maintenance of financial records
- payment of salaries and wages
- the payment of bills and expenses
- the collection of accounts due
- monitoring of business funds
- reporting to management to make informed judgements and decisions.

Consequently, the care and planning of the financial needs of an organisation are as necessary as the planning for operations, marketing, human resources and administration.

In the following sections a number of key financial concepts that assist management in decision-making will be developed. These are:

- sources of finance
- cash flow
- break-even
- financial statements and reporting
- financial analysis (ie. ratio analysis)





SOURCES OF FINANCE

Organisations have access to a number of different sources of finance. The source of finance an organisation chooses to use will depend on a number of factors:

- type of organisation (ownership/sector of economy)
- size of organisation (value of assets)
- age of organisation (new or established business)
- what the finance is required for
- how long the finance is required for

Finance may be generated from inside the organisation (internal sources of finance) or from outside the organisation (external sources of finance).

Internal Sources of Finance

SOURCE	DESCRIPTION	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGES
Retained	Profits kept back	No interest to pay	Growth may be slow
profits	from previous years	back.	if retained profits
	are used to generate		are the main source
	more profit in the		of finance.
	future.		Shareholders may be
			unhappy as they may
			receive a smaller
			dividend.
Sale of	Selling of assets	Quick and easy to	Interest could be
assets	(items it owns) to	set up. Can be	expensive.
	raise finance	repaid over a long	
		period of time.	

EXTERNAL SOURCES OF FINANCE

Short Term Sources of Finance

SOURCE	DESCRIPTION	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGES
Bank	Withdrawing more	Easy and quick to	Expensive to use
overdraft	money out of the	arrange.	over a long period of
	bank than is	Good for short	time.
	available in the	periods of time to	Additional charges
	account.	cover cash flow	may be incurred or
		shortages.	the facility
		Relatively	withdrawn if
		inexpensive in the	overdraft limit is
		short term.	exceeded.
Trade	Purchasing items	Gives organisation	Prompt payment
credit	from a supplier	time to sell their	discount is lost.
	where the goods are	product before the	Failure to pay within
	received	invoice is due to be	the credit period
	immediately and paid	paid.	may result in future
	for at a later date.	Can help	credit being
		organisation's cash	refused.
		flow.	
Debt	Selling invoices	Organisation is	Organisation does
factoring	(money due from	guaranteed to	not receive full
	debtors) to a	receive a percentage	amount of invoice.
	factoring company.	of amount due.	Factors only want to
		Can save time/	buy large value
		money chasing	invoices/large
		unpaid invoices.	quantity of invoices.
Grants	Money received from	Does not need to be	Usually has
	the government/EU/	paid back.	conditions attached.
	enterprise agencies		Can take time to get
	tor a specific		as requires many
	purpose.		forms to be
			completed.

Medium Term Sources of Finance

SOURCE	DESCRIPTION	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGES
Loan from	Borrowing money	No interest to pay	Arguments over
family and	from family and	back. Flexibility in	borrowed money may
friends (ST	friends which is	repayment of loan.	occur.
& Ptshp)	repaid over a period		
	of time.		
Bank Ioan	Borrowing money	Repaid in fixed	Interest is paid
	from a bank (for a	instalments.	back on top of
	specific purpose)	Helps organisation	capital borrowed.
	which is repaid over	to budget and plan.	Interest rate may
	a period of time.		be high for new/high
1.1:			risk businesses.
Hire	Deposit paid for	can receive item	Interest could make
Purchase	Item and the rest	Immediately without	The item expensive.
	pala for in	paying in tull.	item is not owned
	instalments.	conneed which may	mede
		spread which hay	made.
		affordable	
		Ttem is owned by	
		organisation after	
		final instalment is	
		paid.	
Leasing	Renting vehicles or	Cheaper than	Expensive in the long
5	equipment for a	purchasing outright	term as organisation
	period of time.	in the short term.	is continually paying
		Equipment is	leasing charge.
		replaced when	Organisation will
		outdated.	never own the asset.
		May include a	
		service contract	
		where maintenance	
		is included.	

Long Term Sources of Finance

SOURCE	DESCRIPTION	ADVANTAGES	DISADVANTAGES
Owner(s) savings (ST & Ptshp)	Additional funds (capital) invested from the owner(s) personal finances.	Reduces amount to be borrowed from other sources. Control is maintained.	Owner(s) may find it difficult to withdraw investment. Investment is at risk if business fails (unlimited liability).
Mortgage	A special type of loan used to purchase property and land.	Can be taken out over very long periods eg 25 years. Lower rate of interest than other bank loans.	If interest rates change repayments might increase.
Share issue	Selling shares (a small part of the organisation). Owners of shares are known as shareholders.	Very large sums of money can be raised. Money invested through share issue is not repaid. Shareholders have limited liability and receive dividends.	Cost of issuing shares can be expensive. Deciding on share price can be difficult.
Debentures	Loans received from private individuals or other organisations. Interest is paid over the debenture period and original value of loan paid at end of debenture period.	Very large sums of money can be raised. Organisation pays interest on the loan over the debenture period - giving them time to raise the value of the loan before it is due.	Interest will require to be paid even if organisation is making a loss. If organisation is unable to repay interest/loan the debenture-holders can sell assets to recover what is owed.
Venture capital	Venture capitalists provide loans to organisations that are deemed too risky by banks.	Allows finance to be raised for risky ventures. Venture capitalist will often provide advice to ensure their investment is successful.	Venture capitalists are generally only interested in large loans. Fees/interest rates can be very high. Often want share of business in exchange for finance. May want to be involved in decision making process.

BREAK-EVEN

To make a profit, a business needs to sell its products at a price which is higher than it costs to produce. **Profit = sales - expenses**.

Costs can be classified as either:

	Costs which increase as the number of products made increases eg raw materials – sometimes known as direct costs
	Example – making pencils: each pencil needs wood at 3p and lead at 2p
VARIABLE	0 pencils : $(3+2) \times 0 = 0p$
COSTS	1 pencil : (3+2) × 1 = 5p
	10 pencils : $(3+2) \times 10 = 50p$
	100 pencils : (3+2) × 100 = £5.00
	Costs which stay the same no matter how many units of a product is made eg rent, advertising – sometimes known as overheads
	Example – making pencils: rent is £500 per month and advertising is £200 per month
FIXED	0 pencils : £500 + £200 = £700
COSTS	1 pencils : £500 + £200 = £700
	10 pencils : £500 + £200 = £700
	100 pencils : £500 + £200 = £700
	Fixed costs and variable costs added together
TOTAL COSTS	Example - making pencils
	Fixed costs : £500 + £200 = £700
	Variable costs : (3+2) × 100 = £5
	Total costs = £700 + £5
	= £705

BREAK-EVEN is the point at which a business makes neither a profit nor a loss ie where total revenue = total costs.

	The money received though selling your products Selling price x Quantity sold Example - making pencils: the selling price of each pencil is 20p O pencils : 20 x 0 = 0p
Total Revenue	1 pencil : $20 \times 1 = 20p$
	$10 \text{ pencils} : 20 \times 10 = \pm 2.00$
	100 pencils : 20 x 100 = £20.00
	total revenue is not the same as profits as costs have not yet been deducted

To calculate the break-even point -

BREAK-EVEN POINT : TOTAL COSTS = TOTAL REVENUE

BREAK-EVEN TABLE

By entering information we can see when the business makes a loss (how many units are sold) and when it begins to make a profit.

Number of	Fixed Costs	Variable	Total Costs	Total	Profit or
Pencils		Costs		Revenue	Loss
0	£700	£0	£700	£0	£700 Loss
500	£700	£25	£725	£100	£625 Loss
1000	£700	£50	£750	£200	£550 Loss
1500	£700	£75	£775	£300	£475 Loss
2000	£700	£100	£800	£400	£400 Loss
2500	£700	£125	£825	£500	£325 Loss
3000	£700	£150	£850	£600	£250 Loss
3500	£700	£175	£875	£700	£175 Loss
4000	£700	£200	£900	£800	£100 Loss
4500	£700	£225	£925	£900	£25 Loss
5000	£700	£250	£950	£1000	£50 Profit

Using information from the table above we can see that a loss is made from 0 to 4500 sales but at 5000 units a profit is being made.

What we can't see from the table is exactly where the break-even point is. The best way to do that is by drawing a break-even chart.

BREAK-EVEN CHART

The break-even point can be identified from a break-even chart which plots 3 lines:

- Fixed Costs
- Total Costs (Fixed + Variable)
- Total Revenue (Selling Price × Quantity Sold)



BREAK-EVEN CHART FOR PENCILS

- \checkmark Break-even point in this example is 4667.
- ✓ Therefore when 4667 units are sold total revenue = total costs.
- \checkmark If less than 4667 units are sold the business will make a loss.
- ✓ If more than 4667 units are sold the business will make a profit.

WHY IS BREAK-EVEN ANALYSIS USEFUL?

Calculating break-even is important for both new and existing businesses. It can help a business make decisions about:

- how much to produce
- what price to sell their products at

FINANCIAL RECORDS

Financial records are produced to provide information on all financial transactions carried out by an organisation.

The most common financial records used by an organisation are:

- Cash budget
- Trading account
 Profit and Loss account

Annual accounts (Final accounts)

Balance sheet

Cash Flow Management

Cash is the most *liquid* of all business assets. Cash flow is all about the movement of money (cash) in and out of a business.

Liquidity - the ability to have, or have access to, sufficient cash, or near cash assets to meet the everyday commitments of running an organisation - is vital for the short-term survival of the organisation.

It is important that cash inflows (money coming into the business) are greater than cash outflows (money spent by the business), perhaps as important as the overall profit level of the organisation.

Many businesses go into liquidation and close down because of the lack of sufficient cash to meet commitments, not because of lack of profits.

Cash Budgets

A business will use a **Cash Budget** to make projections into the future. They will use this to 'manage' their cash and as a basis for decision making, e.g. whether or not there will be sufficient cash to purchase fixed assets.

Cash budgets record the **estimated** movements of **cash in** and **cash out** of an organisation. This can be summed up as follows:

INFLOWS OUT	TFLOWS
Cash coming into the business Casi	h going out of the business
sale of stockspurchsale of fixed assetspurchloans receivedloanscapital introduceddravretained profitslossedecreases in debtorsincreasesincreases in creditorsdecreases	chase of stocks chase of fixed asset s repaid vings or dividends paid es eases in debtors reases in creditors

Cash budgets are used to monitor, control, and obtain or present information as follows:

- Monitor and control preparing a cash budget provides the business with a tool for comparison of budgeted with actual results obtained from other financial statements.
- **Measure performance** of the organisation as a whole, or individual departments or sections within the organisation.
- Set targets provides targets (limits) for managers and employees to work towards.



- To highlight anticipated periods of poor cash flow (deficit) and provide time for corrective action.
- To highlight anticipated periods of surplus to enable organisation to invest for the future.
- As part of a Business Plan which would be drawn up by a new business prior to starting up; or by an existing business prior to expansion.



	April £('000)	May £('000)	June £('000)
Opening Balance (1)	100	105	115
Receipts (2)			
Cash Sales	20	40	30
Receipts for Credit Sales	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	20
Total Receipts (3)	<u> 155</u>	<u> 175</u>	<u> 165</u>
Payments (4)			
Purchases	14	18	20
Payments of Credit Purchases	2	3	4
Petrol	4	5	8
Administration	5	7	5
Wages	20	22	23
Rent	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	<u> </u>
Total Payments (5)	<u> </u>	<u> 60</u>	<u> 65</u>
Closing Balance (6)	£105	£115	£100
	====	====	====

Cash Budget for Mrs Sue Preme - 3 Months (April - June)

Notes on the Cash Budget:

- 1 *Opening Balance* The money that the organisation has at the start of the time period
- 2 *Receipts* Both cash sales and receipts from debtors are recorded as outstanding accounts are paid
- 3 Total Receipts Opening balance minus receipts
- 4 *Payments* All individual expenses involving the movements of cash are identified, including payments made for credit purchases
- 5 Total Payments The estimated total amount that will be spent during the month
- 6 *Closing Balance* total income for the period minus total expenses for the period. The closing balance of one time period becomes the opening balance for the next time period

POOR CASH FLOW is caused by

Spending too much money on stock that	Giving customers too long to pay money
has not sold.	that they owe.
Not receiving enough money from the sale	Not having enough time to pay bills from
of goods and/or services.	their suppliers.
Owners taking too much money out of the	Bad management decisions eg high
business for personal use (drawings).	marketing spend that doesn't generate
	sales.

Possible courses of action to IMPROVE CASHFLOW:

Reconsider expenses - can anything be cut back? Eg are all employees required, find a	Spread cost of large capital purchases by purchasing through hire purchase or by
cheaper supplier/supplier who will give a	leasing equipment.
discount.	
Increase sales revenue by increasing	Inform the bank of any shortage and
selling price or carrying out additional	organise an overdraft in advance.
advertising to increase amount sold.	
Offer discounts to customers who pay on	Sell equipment or machinery no longer
time as this will encourage them to pay	needed as this will bring in cash to be used
more quickly.	to fund other areas of the business.
Obtain additional finance eg a loan.	Obtain trade credit from supplier.
Reduce level of trade credit given to	Raise extra capital by investing retained
customers.	profits or issuing new shares.

Cash Budgets and their importance to the role of management

Using the roles of management, as described by Henri Fayol and others, we can see just how useful Cash Flow Statements can be as a management tool.

Plans	Looks ahead and sets aims and strategies. By identifying where cash is being spent and where it is being earned, management can plan to borrow, either to finance short-term cash flow problems or to finance long-term expansion.
Organises	Make arrangements for all the resources of the organisation to be in the right place at the right time and in the right quantities. Quite obviously such resources have to be financed, and management must be able to ensure that it can afford the resources it requires and takes full advantage of bulk purchase discounts, trade credit and other financial incentives.
Commands	Tells subordinates what their duties are. It is essential for the efficient running of the organisation that each department is given a budget for expenditure on routine requirements. Each department must also know its limits when making one-off requests for additional finance for specific jobs, projects or capital expenditure.
Co-ordinates	Make sure everyone is working towards the same aims and that the activities of individual workers fit in with the work of other parts of the organisation. Financial reports and summaries from each department will allow management to keep a clear overview of the operation as a whole. It may be that surpluses in one department can be used to offset short-falls in another.
Controls	Measures, evaluates and compares results with plans, and supervises and checks work done. Using Cash Budgets as a measure of performances or progress gives management a tool that records quantifiable data that is the same for each department.
Delegates	Makes subordinates responsible for tasks and gives them the authority to carry them out. This can involve delegating responsibility for holding, recording and spending departmental budgets or project budgets to the departmental manager or project leader. It can even be done simply by giving a cashier full control of, and responsibility for, her /his own cash point or till.
Motivates	Encourages others to carry out their tasks effectively, often by introducing team-work, empowerment, worker participation in decision-making and other non-financial methods. This can come from appropriate delegation where the individual(s) feel(s) trusted and empowered because of being responsible for finance within their area of control.

Annual Accounts (Final Accounts)

In order that data contained in these records can be communicated in a recognisable form, items of a similar nature are gathered together and reported in standard Financial Statements.

These statements are:

- The Trading Account
- The Profit and Loss Account



• The Balance Sheet

These statements provide information relating to a particular aspect of the organisation's activities during a trading period - most commonly one financial year. These financial statements are often referred to as the **final accounts** of the business.

The Trading Account

This account shows the **profit** made from buying and selling goods and services. It compares the **value of sales to the customer with the value of the sales at cost price**.

The main activity of any organisation involved in trading is the purchase of the goods and the subsequent selling on of those goods to the customer at a higher price.

The difference between Sales Value (turnover) and the Cost of Sales is the Gross Profit.

Items that may appear in the trading account include:

- Sales (sometimes shown as Turnover)
- Purchases
- Returns Inwards (sales returns) and Returns Outwards (purchase returns)
- Carriage inwards (the cost of bringing stock into the shop/warehouse)
- Warehouse rent (this is part of the cost of sales as it is a charge against the storage of stock)
- Stock at the start of the trading period (opening stock)
- Stock at the end of the trading period (closing stock)

In fact, the Trading part of the Trading Profit and Loss Account details **any item** that relates to the sales or the cost incurred when making those sales.

Let us look at a worked example:

From the following balances at 31 August 20-2, extracted from the books of the sportswear shop 'Jogging Along', prepare a trading account.

	£
Sales Purchases Returns Inwards (sales returns)	104,285 45,628 531
Returns Onwards (purchase returns)	135
Stock at Start (1 September 20-1)	5,432
Stock at End (31 August 20-2) Carriage Inwards	6,102 365

Trading account for Jogging Along for year ended 31 August 20-2

	£	£	£
Sales (1)			
Sales (turnover)			104,285
Less returns inwards			531
			103,754
Less Cost of Goods Sold (2)			
Opening Stock		5,432	
Add: Purchases	45,628		
Carriage inwards	365		
	45,993		
Less returns outwards	135		
		45,858	
Cost of good available for sale		51,290	
5		·	
Less Closing Stock		6,102	
Cost of Goods Sold			45,188
GROSS PROFIT (3)			£58,566
			======

The Profit and Loss Account

The Profit and Loss Account calculates the **final profit or loss** that an organisation has made over a financial time period.

It starts with the Gross Profit figure from the Trading Account, and lists any items of additional revenue raised by the organisation as well as any expenses incurred by the organisation *not directly linked to trading*.

Items that will appear in the Profit and Loss Account include:

Additional Income (added to the Gross Profit)

- discounts received
- commission received
- profit on the disposal of assets (things of value that the firms owns and then sells)

Expenses (subtracted)

- wages
- carriage outwards (dispatching goods to customers)
- rent
- rates
- insurance
- advertising
- bad debts allowance
- depreciation (the appropriation of the cost of an asset over its economic lifetime)
- telephone
- stationery
- any other general expense



Let's look at a worked example:

Following the following balances at 31 August 20-2, extracted from the books of the sportswear shop 'Jogging Along', prepare a Trading Profit and Loss Account.

Trading, Profit and Loss Account for Jogging Along for the year ended 31 August 20-2

	£	£	£
Sales (1) Sales (turnover) Less returns inwards			104,285 <u>531</u> 103,754
Less Cost of Goods Sold (2) Opening Stock Add: Purchases Carriage inwards	45,628 <u>365</u> 45,993	5,432	
Less returns outwards Cost of good available for sale	<u>135</u>	<u>45,858</u> 51,290	
Less Closing Stock		6,102	
Cost of Goods Sold			<u>45,188</u>
GROSS PROFIT (3)			£58,566
Less expenses (4)			
Wages Carriage Outwards Rent Rates Insurance Advertising General Expenses Telephone		26,390 560 4,400 1,400 600 2,000 1,354 <u>460</u>	<u>37,164</u>
NET PROFIT (5)			£21,402
			======

Notes on the Trading Profit and Loss Account

1 Sales or Turnover

The revenue from selling goods and/or services.

2 Cost of Sales

Costs associated directly with the production/purchase of goods or services. (Warehousing costs are traditionally shown in the Trading Account.)

3 Gross Profit/Loss

This is the difference between Sales revenue and Cost of Goods Sold. This money has arisen directly from the trading activities of the organisation.

4 Expenses

All additional expenses incurred by the organisation, for example administration, distribution and selling expenses are listed here.

5 Net Profit

This is the amount of money the organisation has left once all expenses have been deducted from the sales revenue received. (In Partnerships and Limited Company final accounts the Net Profit figure is given before tax charges have been deducted. Such charges will be recorded in a Profit Appropriation Account, where the users of financial information will be able to see exactly what has happened to the profits of a business).



The Balance Sheet

The Trading, Profit and Loss Account records the history of the business activity **throughout** the financial year, whereas the Balance Sheet shows a "snapshot" at a **particular** date in time.

The Balance Sheet shows the assets of an organisation (what is owns) and its liabilities (what it owes to others) at this point in time.

In particular the Balance Sheet shows:

- the value of the organisation's **assets (Fixed and Current)**, for example premises, vehicles, machinery, equipment, stock, debtors, bank account balances, cash
- the liabilities (Current and Long-term) of the organisation, for example capital, creditors, bank loans
- the **equity/capital** of the company, for example, share value, reserves (how it is financed)

The Balance Sheet records the **financial worth** of the business at a particular point in time. Therefore, a Balance Sheet is out of date by the time it is published. It forms part of the historical accounting records of a business.

As the name of the accounts suggests, both sides of the account will "Balance" due to the accounting equation:

CAPITAL = ASSETS - LIABILITIES



A typical Balance Sheet for a Limited Company would look like this:

Jeff Capes Haulage Contractor Ltd - Balance Sheet as at 31 August 20-2

	£	£	£	
Fixed Assets (1)			120.000	
Premises			30,000	
Vehicles			19 000	
			179,000	
			·	
Current Assets (2)				
Stock	27,000			
Debtors	13,000	17		
Bank	7,000	47,000		
less Current Liabilities (3)				
Trade creditors	8 000			
Dividends	2,000			
Tax	2,000	12,000		
NET CURRENT ASSETS (4)			35,000	
(Working Capital)				
NET ASSETS (5)			£214 000 ◀	
(Capital Employed)			======	
Financed by:]	Path
				sides of
Issued share capital (6)			105,000	the Balance
Reserves from Profit and Loss Account (/)			29,000	Sheet
Shareholders Interest (8)			134,000	should agree
(Shareholder's Funds)				-
Add Long-Term Liabilities (9)			80,000	
			•	
			£214 000	

======

Notes on the Balance Sheet for a limited company

- 1 Fixed Assets Items owned by the organisation that will generate income, such as property, equipment, furniture, vehicles, etc. Without these assets the organisation would not be able to operate.
- 2 Current Assets Items owned by the organisation that will be used up, sold or converted into cash within twelve months. They include stocks, debtors, bank balances and cash itself.
- *3 Current Liabilities* These are debts owed to outside organisations that must be repaid in the short term, usually, in less than twelve months. They include creditors (suppliers), bank overdraft, dividends due to shareholders and taxation.
- 4 Net Current Assets (Working Capital) The amount by which the total value of current assets exceeds the total value of current liabilities. (It should always be the case that the value of the current assets is greater than the value of current liabilities. If this is not so, then the organisation may be facing serious cash flow problems. The only way that it could then repay its short-term debts would be to incur more debt, or to sell some of its fixed assets, thereby reducing its ability to continue operations at their present level.)
- 5 Net Assets (Capital Employed) Net fixed assets + net current assets. This shows the net value of the firm once short-term debts have been repaid.
- 6 Issued Share Capital Money put into the organisation by the owners or shareholders. In return for their investment they receive *dividend* payments (a share of the profit), the amount being proportion to the size of their shareholding.
- 7 **Reserves from Profit and Loss Account** These are profits retained by the organisation after the payment of dividends to the shareholders and after provision has been made for all other current liabilities. Organisations will use these profit reserves to finance expansion at some later date.
- 8 Shareholders' Interest (Shareholders' Funds) All of the issued share value (ordinary and preference shares), all reserves, retained profits and any other reserves.
- 9 Long-Term Liabilities Debentures or other long-term loans such as mortgages where the debt repayment is *not* due within the next twelve months.



Interpretation of the Trading, Profit and Loss Account and **Balance Sheet**

All public and private companies are required to provide financial statements (final accounts) at the end of each trading period. These accounts are of interest to the Inland Revenue, which uses the information to determine the tax payable by the organisation.

Sole traders, partnerships and private companies are not legally required to make public their final accounts, although many are forced to provide these when attempting to borrow from banks or other financial institutions. However, Public Limited Companies, which obtain money by issuing shares, are legally obliged to publish their final accounts.

Many people, including rival companies, investors, lenders and trade union representatives, use the information contained in published accounts.

Careful study of final accounts can provide an enormous amount of information about the performance of an organisation. For example, it is possible to examine the Trading Account and discover more than just the Gross Profit figure. By interpreting the data available and making comparisons with figures for previous years, or with similar organisations, or by analysing the relationship between different figures, it is possible to find the real indicators of the future success and financial security of an organisation.

The types of questions that can be answered by interpretation of the final accounts include:

Interpretation of Trading Profit and Loss Accounts

- Was this year's trading result good or bad, compared with last year or with a rival company?
- Are we making efficient use of our stock?
- Has the Gross Profit improved this year, compared with last year?
- Does our Net Profit figure compare favourably with those of other organisations in the same industry?

Interpretation of Balance Sheets

- Do we have enough working capital to avoid cash flow problems?
- Are we making enough use of available trade credit?
- Is our level of debtors comparable with that of our industry competitors?





RATIO ANALYSIS

Information obtained from the final accounts of an organisation (Trading, Profit and Loss and Balance Sheet) can be analysed through the use of common ratios.

- **PROFITABILITY** measure an organisation's ability to control its spending (so it is earning more than it is paying out).
- LIQUIDITY measure an organisation's ability to pay their short-term debts.
- EFFICIENCY measure an organisation's ability to make good use of their resources.

Uses of Ratio Analysis

To compare the current year's performance with that of previous years.

To compare our performance with those of similar organisations (same type and size).

To interpret information in order to identify why differences occur and how best to improve performance in the future.

To use the information for forecasting/budgeting.

Comparisons are important in order that a true picture of the business performance can be drawn up. This also means that management can make informed decisions about the future of the business, based on reliable information.

Limitations of Ratio Analysis

Information contained in final accounts is historical - it happened in the past.

Like must be compared with like - any comparisons made must be with firms of similar size and in the same type of industry.

Findings may not take into account external factors, recession or inflation effects.

Findings do not reflect the implications or effects of new policies.

Using different methods of stock valuation can result in different VALUE figures from company to company or from time period to time period.

Only covers financial information. Does not take into account any other factors like the quality of staff or location of the business.

PROFITABILITY RATIOS

<u>Gross Profit Margin</u>

Formula	<u>Gross Profit</u> × <u>100</u> Net Sales (Turnover) 1
Purpose	 to measure the percentage of gross profit earned on the trading activities of the organisation to measure how many pence Gross Profit is earned out of every £ of sales.
Used by	 managers/directors, comparing year on year and other similar companies.
Limitations	 no comment can be made unless trends over different time periods, or comparisons with other similar organisations are made.
Improvements	 cut the costs of production/manufacture purchasing cheaper goods increase the selling price to the consumer

<u>Net Profit Margin</u>

Formula	<u>Net Profit</u> × <u>100</u> Net Sales (Turnover) 1
Purpose	 to measure the Net Profit earned as a percentage of the sales, after all expenses have been met. to measure how many pence net profit is earned out of every £ of sales.
Used by	 managers/directors/current investors/Inland Revenue, comparing year on year and other similar companies.
Limitations	 no comment can be made unless trends over different time periods/comparisons with other similar organisations are made.
Improvements	 reduce the proportion of expenses paid out of every £1 of turnover.

Return on Capital Employed

Formula	<u>Net Profit before interest and tax</u> × <u>100</u> Capital Employed (at start) 1
Purpose	 to measure the percentage return on the capital invested in the business.
Used by	 Managers - how useful is the capital employed in generating profits? Current investors - what rate of return is being given on capital invested? Potential investors - is the return from this company better/worse than from other companies? (Comparisons year on year and with other similar companies.) Comparison with current interest rates on Savings Accounts - far safer investment.
Limitations	• this ratio uses <i>historic</i> costs of the business's assets. If asset values are inaccurate then the capital employed figure will also be inaccurate.
Improvements	• Improve Net Profit (reduce cost of expenses)

Profit Mark-Up

Formula	<u>Gross Profit</u> × <u>100</u> Cost of Goods Sold 1
Purpose	 to measure the percentage added to the cost of goods sold to calculate their selling price.
Used by	 managers/directors, comparing year on year and other similar companies.
Limitations	 no comment can be made unless trends over different time periods, or comparisons with other similar organisations are made.
Improvements	 cut the costs of production/manufacture purchasing cheaper goods increase the selling price to the consumer

LIQUIDITY RATIOS

Current Ratio (also called the Working Capital Ratio)

Formula	<u>Current Assets</u> Current Liabilities shown as something : 1 eg. 2.1 : 1
Purpose	 to measure whether the business has sufficient current assets to cover payment in full of current liabilities. Has the firm enough 'working capital' to meet all short-term debts? Compares assets that will become liquid in less than twelve months with liabilities that fall due in the same time period.
Used by	 managers/directors/banks and other lenders, comparisons year on year and between companies.
Limitations	• there is no ideal ratio, through it is commonly accepted that this ratio should be greater than 1:1. (Some businesses prosper with a ratio of less than this.)

Acid Test (Quick) Ratio

Formula	<u>Current Assets - Stock</u> Current Liabilities shown as something : 1 eg. 2.1 : 1
Purpose	 to measure if the company has sufficient liquid assets to cover current liabilities, if required to assess if the company is suffering from a cash flow problem this ratio excludes the values of stocks in its calculation as it can be quite difficult to dispose of stocks in the very short term. Even if stocks could be disposed of immediately, the business could no longer continue as it would have no stock left to trade with!
Used by	 managers/directors/bank and other lenders
Limitations	• if a business has a slow stock turnover, the acid test ratio should, ideally, be greater than 1:1. With a fast stock turnover, the ratio can be less than 1:1 without causing alarm. When making an assessment, the trends over a number of years, and within the industry, should be considered. For example, many supermarkets operate quite successfully with an acid test ratio of less than 1:1.

EFFICIENCY RATIOS

Rate of Stock Turnover

Formula	<u>Cost of Goods Sold</u> Average Stock* *(opening stock + closing stock)/2
Purpose	• to measure how often the business buys in a 'bundle' of stock
Used by	 Managers – how much money is tied up in stock which could be used elsewhere.
Limitations	• There is no ideal figure to compare, although a lower figure shows that stock is being purchased infrequently and likely in high quantities
Improvements	• Buy in smaller quantities of stock more frequently

Uses of financial information in business

Financial information is used for a wide variety of purposes by different stakeholders of the business.

Controlling costs and expenditure

Managers and owners can use profitability ratios to investigate and decide which costs should be monitored and dealt with. These ratios can also be used to decide whether suitable prices are being charged for the items of stock. If the ratios are too low, the prices can be raised. However, this may lead to customers going elsewhere.

Managers and owners can also use the profitability ratios to decide whether the profits are high enough to reward workers by giving them bonuses at the end of the year.

Forecasting trends and planning for the future

Businesses can use ratios to forecast trends from year to year. They can see which areas of the business are affecting profits, e.g. cost of purchases, administrative costs, wages, or revenue earned for sales.

Managers can use cash flow to forecast trends. This helps them to identify whether:

- proposed increased wage costs would lead to them having to arrange an overdraft
- the proposed purchase of a computer would mean having to arrange a loan.

Financial information about the business along with information collected on competitors can be used to consider introducing something new. This could be new products or new methods of production or selling, for example, on the internet.

Monitor Performance

Managers can use final accounts and ratios to monitor performance by comparing profits from year to year or with other similar organizations.

They can also ensure that targets and objectives are being met eg sales levels, profitability, and production levels.

USERS OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Central to the work of an accountant is the provision of information that can be given to interested parties to assist them in making decisions.

Managers/Owners

Firstly, require measures of profit to *evaluate* the effects of past decisions and how well they achieved the organisational goals, and as a *guide* assist in the decision-making process for the next financial period.

Secondly, they need to know the patterns of cash flows, both historical and current and to be able to *predict* and *maintain* liquidity and credit worthiness.

Thirdly, they need to have detailed information about the organisation's assets and liabilities to assist in the *control* of them.

Fourthly, management will use financial information to control the actions of employees. The information required by the management team is more detailed and is required more frequently, than by any other user group.

Shareholders

Shareholders are interested in the profits of the organisation as this may influence dividend payments. They will be interested in its liquidity and continued success.

Employees

Take an increasing interest in the financial affairs of the organisations that employ them. Although the ability to pay has not been *accepted* fully as a criterion for wage settlements, in recent years there has been increasing use of company and industry profit figures in wage negotiations. Many wage settlements are now also linked to productivity (and thereby profit) improvement.

Employees may use information on profit levels to see if bonuses may be paid and to satisfy themselves that there is job security.

Investors and potential investors

Will want to use information on past performance and the present financial position of an organisation to attempt to *predict* future returns on capital invested. They will also use accounting information to *assess* the performance of the management team.

Local Community

Success/survival of organisation may bring more jobs to the area and boost the local economy. This in turn may require the local council to look at profit levels of the organisation to estimate growth potential and the need for additional facilities in the area eg housing and schools.

Creditors

Both short-term (suppliers) and long-term (institutional and individual lenders) have an obvious interest in assessing the amount of security for the debt owed to them. They will be interested in the organisation's ability to generate funds to repay capital amounts outstanding *and* to repay, on a regular basis, any interest owing. Creditors will also want to know the extent and priority of any other liabilities.

Trade Unions

Re-presenting groups of employees, trade unions will use financial information to try to negotiate the 'best deal' for their members, in terms of pay and working conditions. Unions are vociferous in condemnation of high salary increase for senior management and low wage settlements for workers. They also have influence in the political sphere, having a close association with the Labour Party, and may use/provide financial information to support their, or the Labour Party's aims.

Government and government bodies

These institutions must be provided with certain information by law regarding the financial position of an organisation – even a sole trader must provide a record of profit and expenses to the Inland Revenue for taxation purposes. The requirements for companies will normally be laid out in the Companies Act.

The increasing importance of consumer protection has meant that, more and more, financial information is require to highlight 'problem' areas such as unfair pricing. The June 1994 case against the UK music industry over the high prices charged for CDs was not proved as unfair. It is also used to identify restrictive practices, to prevent the operation of cartels and the growth of monopolistic manufacturers and retailers and to identify foreign investment (especially in 'key' industries).

Economists/Analysts

Use accounting data as a basis for their research and to provide information for the planning and prediction of industry, as well as national and international economic performance. Much of their research is used by government (and the opposition parties) to assist in policy-making decisions for the business community as a whole.

Customers & the general public

Have, in recent years, taken an increasing interest in the effects of business activities. Consumers, as shareholders (Margaret Thatcher's 'popular capitalism') and as members of wider society and as environmentalists, more and more want to know about issues such as monopolistic profits, harmful and dangerous products, pollution, unfair/offensive advertising and foreign control. In terms of Public Limited Companies much of this information can be found in the published accounts and reports - which must be made available, on request, to members of the public.

LIMITATIONS OF FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

- Financial statements are *historic*.
- Using different methods of stock valuation can result in different *value* figures from company to company or from time period to time period.
- Unless looking at percentage figures, the impact of inflations is not reflected in comparative figures.
- There can be international variations in accounting standards.
- Valuing *intangibles*, such as 'Goodwill' is subjective, not objective.

Financial statements only include quantifiable data. Important points not included in financial data are:

- Morale/staff turnover
- Product portfolio
- Abilities/skills/expertise of staff
- Research and development/new product development
- Technological sophistication of product/production process
- Competition/size/share of market
- Marketing techniques used
- Organisation structure
- Social concerns/duties



Role of technology in managing finance

Technology can assist greatly in the preparation and interpretation of financial records, in particular spreadsheets (eg MS Excel) and accounting packages (eg Sage).

- Spreadsheets allow a variety of formulae and functions to prepare financial records this may reduce errors made during calculations.
- If statements can be used to see the outcome of alternatives can help managers make decisions eg by showing effect of borrowing different levels of finance in a cash budget
- Templates can be created and used throughout the organisation to ensure consistency of financial record keeping makes internal analysis easier and helps employees understand/use spreadsheets effectively
- Graphs and charts can be created from spreadsheets which are easy to understand
 comparison of projected/actual figures, trends over a period of time, comparison with competitors
 - Graphs/charts may be inserted into financial reports that can be emailed to appropriate staff or added to presentations (eg MS Powerpoint) to communicate financial information
- Spreadsheets can be stored centrally in the organisation's intranet allowing multiuser access and can be backed-up in case original file is damaged/lost

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Term	Meaning
assets	items owned by a company - for example, equipment, cash, etc.
creditors	people from whom we buy goods on credit and whom we have not yet paid, or others owed money e.g. bank. Creditors are shown in the Balance Sheet as a current liability.
current assets	current assets are more liquid – more easily converted into cash – than fixed assets. Current assets consist of stock, debtors and money (in bank or cash).
current liabilities	anyone to whom the firm owes money in the short term – e.g. bank overdraft, bills due, other creditors.
debtors	customers to whom we have sold goods on credit and who have not yet paid. Shown in the Balance Sheet as a current asset.
equity	the monetary value of the business which belongs to the owner.
expenses	these have to be paid in the running of the business - e.g. rent, wages, and electricity bills.
fixed assets	fixed assets are items owned by the firm, which will last a long period of time - e.g. premises, furniture.
gross profit (loss)	difference between cost of goods sold and sales revenue.
hire purchase	spreading the payments of a purchase over a period of time.
income	money the business receives in the form of sales revenue.
liquidity	the ability of a business to pay it debts in the short term.
mark-up	the difference between the buying and selling price of a firms product.

net profit (loss)	if expenses are less than gross profit a net profit will occur. If expenses are greater than the gross profit, then a net loss will occur.
overheads	expenses of a business other than materials or labour.
trading account	this statement is prepared to calculate the cost of goods sold and the gross profit. If the sales figure is greater than the cost of goods sold then the firm has made a gross profit. If sales figure is less than the cost of goods sold then the firm has made a gross loss.
profit and loss account	after gross profit has been calculated any additional gains are added to gross profit and then expenses are deducted to find a net profit or net loss.
working capital	difference between current assets and current liabilities – i.e. cash/near cash (stock and debtors) owned by the business and money owing. It shows the ability of an organisation to pay its debts quickly.